
CITY OF TONGANOXIE 
321 S. DELAWARE 913-845-2620 

January 22, 2019 
7:00 Regular Meeting 

 
*Note – This meeting may be transmitted via Facebook Live on the City of Tonganoxie page 

 
Honorable Jason K. Ward, Mayor 

Council Members 
David Bennett  Rocky Himpel               Curtis Oroke             Lisa Patterson  Loralee Stevens 

 
Open Regular Meeting – 7:00 p.m. 
 
I. Pledge of Allegiance  

    
II. Approval of Minutes – Regular meeting dated January 7, 2019 

 
III. Consent Agenda 

 
a) Review bill payments 

 
IV. Open Agenda 

Members of the public are welcome to use this time to comment about any matter relating to City 
business. The comments that are discussed under Open Agenda may or may not be acted upon by the 
Council during this meeting. In order to speak during open agenda, you must sign up with your name 
and address with the city clerk or designee before the meeting.  Comments will be limited to 3 
minutes.  Please wait to be recognized by the Mayor and state your name and address for the record. 

    
V. Old Business 

 
VI. New Business 

 
a) Resolution 01-19-02: Approving Request for Waiver of Pet License Fees in Conjunction with Rabies 

and Micro Chipping Event  
 

b) Consider Approval of 2019 Funding for Tonganoxie Business Association  
 

c) Ordinance 1462: Approval of Special Use Permit for Casey’s Sign Located at 500 West St 
 
d) Ordinance 1445: Amending the Light Industrial District Zoning Ordinance to allow Daycare: Child 

Care Center (or) Preschool 
 

e) City Manager Agenda 
1. Presentation of 2019 Budget Book 
2. Q4 2018 Financial Report 
3. RFP Update 
4. Library Project Update 

 
f) City Attorney Agenda 

 
g) Mayor Pro Tem Agenda 

 
h) City Council Agenda 

 
i) Mayor Agenda 

 
VII. Information & Communications (No Action Required) 

 
VIII. Adjourn 



 
City Council Meeting Minutes 

January 7, 2019 
7:00 Regular Meeting 

 
 

Open Regular Meeting – 7:00 p.m. 
 
I. Pledge of Allegiance  

• Mayor Ward opened the meeting at 7:00 p.m. 
• Roll Call: Council members present were Mr. Bennett, Ms. Stevens, Mr. Himpel, and Ms. Patterson. Mr. Oroke 

was absent. City Manager George Brajkovic, City Attorney Shannon Marcano, and Assistant City Manager Dan 
Porter were also in attendance.   

• Mayor Ward led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
II. Approval of Minutes – Regular meeting dated December 17, 2018 
o Mr. Himpel made a motion to approve the minutes from the December 17, 2018 City Council meeting.  
o Mr. Bennett seconded.  
o Vote of all ayes, motion carried. 

 
III. Consent Agenda 

 
a) Review bill payments 

o Mr. Bennett made a motion to approve the consent agenda.  
o Ms. Patterson seconded.  
o Vote of all ayes, motion carried. 

 
IV. Open Agenda 

 
Members of the public are welcome to use this time to comment about any matter relating to City 
business. The comments that are discussed under Open Agenda may or may not be acted upon by the 
Council during this meeting. In order to speak during open agenda, you must sign up with your name 
and address with the city clerk or designee before the meeting.  Comments will be limited to 3 
minutes.  Please wait to be recognized by the Mayor and state your name and address for the record. 

•    No members of the public addressed the City Council during the open agenda period. 
 

V. Old Business 
 
VI. New Business 

 
a) Resolution 01-19-01: Landscape Design Documents Agreement with GBA Architects and 

Engineers for the Tonganoxie Business Park 
• Mr. Brajkovic introduced the item and delivered a presentation on the history of the development activities at 

the Tonganoxie Business Park.  
o Mr. Bennett made a motion to approve Resolution 01-19-01, approving an agreement for additional 

landscape design services at the Tonganoxie Business Park.    
o Ms. Stevens seconded.  
o Vote of all ayes, motion carried. 

b) Consider Approval of Funding for the League of Kansas Municipalities 2019 Annual Dues  
• Mr. Porter introduced the item and provided background on the services of the League of Kansas Municipalities.  
o Ms. Patterson made a motion to approve payment of the 2019 League of Kansas Municipalities Membership 

Fee.  
o Ms. Stevens seconded.  



 
o Ms. Patterson amended her motion to approve payment of the 2019 League of Kansas Municipalities 

Membership Fee in an amount not to exceed $2,856.75.  
o Ms. Stevens amended her second.  
o Vote of all ayes, motion carried. 

c) Ordinance 1461: Approval of Final Plat for Stone Creek Subdivision Phase #8. 
• Mr. Brajkovic introduced the item. 
• Chris Donnelly addressed the City Council as the applicant and relayed his conversations with the City Public 

Works Director, which resulted in the adjustment to move one connection from underneath the street and 
created two additional manholes.  

o Mr. Himpel made a motion to approve Ordinance 1461, approving the final plat for Stone Creek Subdivision 
Addition 8 with conditions recommended by staff and accepting the dedication of land for public purposes.  
Conditions included: 

Engineering 
1) Contingent on the City Engineer’s review and approval of construction plans for Stone Creek Addition 
No. 8 
Planning 
1) Compliance with any recommendations of the City Engineer review. 
2) An address plat must be submitted meeting the Tonganoxie Street Naming and Addressing Policy be 
    submitted to the City prior to recording of the final plat. 
3) All proposed improvements shall include a performance bond or irrevocable letter of credit from the 
    applicant, approved by the City Attorney, prior to installation. 
4) The Planning Commission’s recommendation shall be forward to the City Council, and the City Council 
    approve and accept all public improvements prior to recording the final plat. 
5) No building permits shall be issued and no lots shall be sold until the Final Plat is recorded with the 
    Register of Deeds of Leavenworth County. 
6) No occupancy permits shall be issued prior to acceptance of public improvements by the City. 

 
o Mr. Bennett seconded.  
o Vote of all ayes, motion carried. 

d) City Manager Agenda 
1. Review Judicial Order on Electronic Media 

• Mr. Brajkovic introduced the item and relayed that this administrative order falls within the Municipal Court 
Judge’s purview and was deemed acceptable by staff.  

2. Library Project Update 
• Mr. Brajkovic reviewed recent progress on the Library project, which included efforts to collect public input from 

display boards posted at public locations and the resulting touch point planned for an upcoming meeting in 
February for the design elements and overall budget of the project to be presented to the City Council.  

 
e) City Attorney Agenda 

 
f) Mayor Pro Tem Agenda 

 
g) City Council Agenda 

 
h) Mayor Agenda 

• Mayor Ward commented on the positive accomplishments in 2018 and wished everyone a happy new year as he 
looked forward to a great 2019.  
 



 
VII. Information & Communications (No Action Required) 

 
VIII. Adjourn 

 
o Ms. Patterson made a motion to adjourn the meeting.  
o Mr. Bennett seconded the motion.  
o Vote of all ayes, motion carried.  
o Meeting adjourned at 7:40 p.m. 

 
 

Respectfully submitted,  
 

 
Dan Porter, Assistant City Manager  
 



Vendor Numb Payment Amount Number
0189 FIRST STATE BANK & TRUST 01/11/2019 Regular 0 41069.3 45800
0056 BLUE CROSS AND BLUE SHIELD 01/18/2019 Regular 0 31596.14 45835
0250 HONEYCREEK DISPOSAL SERVICE 01/11/2019 Regular 0 26474.5 45804
0051 BG CONSULTANTS INC 01/11/2019 Regular 0 20537.89 45795
0059 Kansas City Board of Public Utilities 01/18/2019 Regular 0 15016.1 45841
0099 CITY OF LEAVENWORTH 01/18/2019 Regular 0 5720.72 45837
0462 MILLER SIGN SHOPPE 01/18/2019 Regular 0 4403 45847
0671 WESTAR ENERGY 01/11/2019 Regular 0 4226.51 45831
0914 LOCAL LAW, LLC. 01/11/2019 Regular 0 2950 45815
1014 The League of Kansas Municipalities 01/11/2019 Regular 0 2856.75 45827
0671 WESTAR ENERGY 01/18/2019 Regular 0 2797.63 45852
0579 SECURITY BENEFIT ‐ 457 01/11/2019 Regular 0 2781.92 45824
0641 TYLER TECHNOLOGIES 01/11/2019 Regular 0 2673.75 45829
0964 KDOR ‐ MISC TAX 01/11/2019 Regular 0 1943.51 45811
0813 FREESTATE ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE 01/18/2019 Regular 0 1862 45839
0826 ANNA WOLF 01/18/2019 Regular 0 1312.5 45832
0373 Kansas Health and Environmental Laboratories 01/11/2019 Regular 0 1232 45808
0500 OREILLY AUTO PARTS 01/11/2019 Regular 0 1153.37 45820
0308 KANSAS  STATE TREASURER 01/11/2019 Regular 0 1069.5 45806
0642 U S POSTAL SERVICE 01/11/2019 Regular 0 1067 45830
0414 LINK‐LITE NETWORKING, INC. 01/11/2019 Regular 0 1008 45814
0330 KANSAS GAS SERVICE 01/11/2019 Regular 0 940.16 45807
0857 MIDCONTINENT COMMUNICATIONS 01/18/2019 Regular 0 893.54 45846
0548 RECORDNEWS 01/11/2019 Regular 0 848.1 45821
0555 RICOH USA, INC. 01/11/2019 Regular 0 755.72 45822
0070 BROTHER' S MARKET 01/18/2019 Regular 0 677.03 45836
0030 ASBESTOS CONSULTING & TESTING 01/18/2019 Regular 0 578.6 45833
0476 NATIONAL SIGN COMPANY INC. 01/11/2019 Regular 0 502.95 45818
0254 HUBER & ASSOCIATES, INC 01/11/2019 Regular 0 500 45805
0426 LEAVENWORTH COUNTY  SHERIFF OFFICE 01/11/2019 Regular 0 440 45813
0614 T‐MOBILE 01/11/2019 Regular 0 404.42 45828

My Check Report

 Date Range: 1/06/2019 - 01/18/2019

Vendor Name Payment Date Payment Type Discount Amount

0614 T MOBILE 01/11/2019 Regular 0 404.42 45828
0757 KC CLEAN 01/11/2019 Regular 0 360 45810
0046 BAY BRIDGE ADMINISTRATORS, LLC 01/18/2019 Regular 0 357.54 45834
0542 QUILL 01/18/2019 Regular 0 343.44 45848
0857 MIDCONTINENT COMMUNICATIONS 01/11/2019 Regular 0 341.08 45816
0645 UNITED RENTALS, (NORTH AMERICA 01/18/2019 Regular 0 314.22 45851
0886 CREATIVE PRODUCT SOURCE, INC. 01/18/2019 Regular 0 295 45838
0479 NEW DIRECTIONS BEHAVIORAL HEAL 01/11/2019 Regular 0 272.34 45819
0224 HAMM QUARRIES & LANDFILL 01/11/2019 Regular 0 265.75 45803
0330 KANSAS GAS SERVICE 01/18/2019 Regular 0 264.88 45842
0589 SMITH & LOVELESS INC 01/11/2019 Regular 0 235 45825
0393 LAWRENCE MEMORIAL HOSPITAL 01/11/2019 Regular 0 228 45812
0462 MILLER SIGN SHOPPE 01/11/2019 Regular 0 212 45817
0594 SMITHEREEN PEST CONTROL 01/11/2019 Regular 0 198 45826
0166 EMERGENCY REPORTING 01/11/2019 Regular 0 181.33 45799
0015 ALL SEASONS CAR WASH 01/11/2019 Regular 0 157.01 45793
0749 BROADVOICE 01/11/2019 Regular 0 139.55 45796
0381 LADD SERVICE COMPANY 01/18/2019 Regular 0 128 45843
0990 TIRE HUB 01/18/2019 Regular 0 117.94 45849
0710 EAGLE MEMORIALS 01/11/2019 Regular 0 100 45798
0772 LV CO PORT AUTHORITY 01/18/2019 Regular 0 100 45845
0334 KANSAS MAYORS ASSOCIATION 01/11/2019 Regular 0 50 45809
0556 RNKY DINK GRAPHICS, LLC 01/11/2019 Regular 0 48 45823
0824 IBT INC 01/18/2019 Regular 0 35.94 45840
0096 CITY ATTORNEYS ASSOC OF KANSAS 01/11/2019 Regular 0 35 45797
0020 AMERICAN EQUIPMENT CO. 01/11/2019 Regular 0 28.97 45794
0628 TODD'S TIRE LLC 01/18/2019 Regular 0 18 45850
0809 FREESTATE ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE INC 01/11/2019 Regular 0 14.21 45801
0205 GALL'S LLC 01/11/2019 Regular 0 11.99 45802
1030 Lawrence Hose 01/18/2019 Regular 0 6.6 45844

Bank Drafts 0 0 0.00 0.00

Manual Checks 0 0 0.00 0.00
Voided Checks 0 0 0.00 0.00

Bank Code AP Bank Summary
Payable
Count

Payment
CountPayment Type Discount Payment

Regular Checks 70 60 0.00 185,152.40



70 60 0.00 185,152.40
EFT's 0 0 0.00 0.00



998 Gen Fund‐Pooled Cash 1/2019 185152.4
185152.4

70 60 0.00 185,152.40

Fund Summary
Fund Name Period Amount

Bank Drafts 0 0 0.00 0.00

EFT's 0 0 0.00 0.00

Manual Checks 0 0 0.00 0.00

Voided Checks 0 0 0.00 0.00

All Bank Codes Check Summary
Payable
Count

Payment 
CountPayment Type Discount Payment

Regular Checks 70 60 0.00 185,152.40

1/18/2019 2:42:42 PM Page 2 of 3

My Check Report Date Range: 01/06/2019 ‐ 01/18/2019



1/18/2019 2:42:42 PM Page 3 of 3



  

 
Office of the City Manager 

AGENDA STATEMENT 
DATE:  January 22, 2019 
TO:  Honorable Mayor Jason K. Ward and Members of the City Council 
FROM:   Dan Porter, Assistant City Manager 

SUBJECT:  Rabies and Micro Chipping Event Registration Fee Waiver Request 

 
DISCUSSION: 
In 2018 a group of participants in the Southern Leavenworth County Leadership Development Program 
approached the City with a proposal to collaborate by waiving licensing fees as the group promoted and 
provided a low-cost rabies and micro chipping clinic in Chieftain Park in April 2018.  The event lasted 3 hours 
with services administered to between 50 and 100 animals by animal care professionals affiliated with HOPE 
(Help Overpopulation of Pets Economically) Inc., a 501(c)(3) nonprofit organization based in Leavenworth, 
Kansas. Monica Gee, who was a member of the organizing group in 2018, has reached out the City to submit 
a request to repeat this collaboration in 2019 on one of two dates (dependent on the schedule of the vet 
administering services) and she will be available to answer questions or provide more information.  
 
The City Code requires licensing all cats and dogs over 90 days old owned by residents on an annual basis, 
with a fee of $10 for spayed or neutered pets and $15 for pets that are not spayed or neutered. Pet licenses 
are due in May each year and are sold at half-price during the month of April.  
  
The proposed collaboration involves a request that the City waive the (half-price) licensing fee associated with 
the pets who take part in the rabies and micro chipping event held in April by permitting the on-site event 
organizers to issue a certificate of completion to event participants that they could, in turn, submit along with 
their license application in lieu of payment in April 2019. The reasons for this request are to encourage 
widespread participation in the clinic event, encourage registration of more pets within the City of Tonganoxie, 
and also to potentially save on the costs the City of Tonganoxie can incur when animals at large are recovered 
by City staff and lack the identification to immediately point out ownership. Easier recognition for more animals 
within the City could result in the avoidance of impoundment and transportation costs, especially of any 
animals remaining unclaimed.  
 
BUDGET IMPACT: 
The City’s 2019 General Fund budget plans for $1,500 in revenue from Pet Licenses. The following chart 
demonstrates budget and actual for pet licensing fees over the past several years. Historically, licensing 
activity peaks in April and May of each year. Based on the estimated level of participation and fee structure, 
the revenue impact associated with this request to temporarily waive licensing fees from pets participating in 
this one-time event is approximately $500.  
Year Budget Actuals 
2019 (YTD) $1,500 $     22 
2018  $1,500 $1,350 
2017 $2,000 $1,980 
2016 $2,000 $1,665 
 
ACTION NEEDED: 
Make a motion to approve Resolution 01-19-02 and authorizing the waiver of pet license fees in conjunction 
with a rabies and micro chipping event to be held on April 13, 2019 or April 27, 2019.  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Draft Resolution 01-19-02 
 
CC:  George Brajkovic, City Manager   



1 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 01-19-02 
 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE WAIVER OF PET 
LICENSE FEES IN CONJUNCTION WITH RABIES AND MICRO CHIPPING 
EVENT TO BE HELD IN APRIL 2019       
 
WHEREAS, the City of Tonganoxie has a public health, safety, and welfare interest in 
animal control and requires the registrations of pets over 90 days old in the City, at a cost 
of $10 each for spayed or neutered pets, and $15 pets not spayed or neutered, such 
registrations to be completed in May of each year; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Southern Leavenworth County Leadership Development Program 
collaborated with the City of Tonganoxie in which the City waived registration fees for 
any pets taking part in the low-cost rabies and micro chipping event on April 14, 2018; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the event organizer group is holding a low-cost rabies and micro chipping 
event in the City of Tonganoxie in April 2019; and 
 
WHEREAS, the event organizing group has proposed a collaboration with the City in 
which the City will waive registration fees for any pets taking part in the low-cost rabies 
and micro chipping event in April 2019; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City of Tonganoxie wishes to collaborate with the event organizing 
group by waiving registration fees for any pets taking part in the low-cost rabies and 
micro chipping event in April 2019 to encourage participation in the event and facilitate 
compliance with the City’s pet registration requirements.   
   
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE 
CITY OF TONGANOXIE, KANSAS: 
 
Section 1.  That in collaboration with the Southern Leavenworth County Leadership 
Development Program low-cost rabies and micro chipping event in April 2019, the 
Governing Body approves and hereby authorizes the waiver of pet registration fees for 
pets participating in the event.   
 
Section 2.  That the Governing Body hereby directs City Staff to provide the event 
organizers with a waiver form to be presented to pet owners participating in the low-cost 
rabies and micro chipping event in April 2019 and which upon presentation to the City 
will allow registration fees to be waived for the pet identified in such waiver form.     
 
Section 3.  That this resolution shall become effective upon passage.    
 

 
 
 



2 
 

ADOPTED by the Governing Body this 22nd day of January, 2019. 
   
SIGNED by the Mayor Pro Tem this 22nd day of January, 2019.   
 
 
SEAL 
 
       ______________________________ 
              A.W. Himpel, Mayor Pro Tem 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
__________________________________ 
Patricia C. Hagg, City Clerk 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_________________________________ 
 Shannon M. Marcano, City Attorney  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 



  

 
Office of the City Manager 

AGENDA STATEMENT 
 
DATE:  January 22, 2019 
TO:  Honorable Mayor Jason K. Ward and Members of the City Council 
FROM:   Dan Porter, Assistant City Manager 

SUBJECT:  Consider Approval of 2019 Funding for Tonganoxie Business Association 

DISCUSSION: 
The 2019 Adopted Budget includes funding allocated in the City’s General Fund for supporting the Tonganoxie 
Business Association (TBA) and other community organizations. This item was part of budget workshop 
discussions in 2018 and is being brought before City Council for consideration of expenditure authorization, per 
the City’s Purchasing Authority & Procedures policy.   
 
The Tonganoxie Business Association is responsible for the St Patrick’s Day Parade, downtown beautification 
efforts, the Businessmen’s Annual Appreciation Dinner, the Sunflower Stroll event, the Spooktacular and 
contributions to the Mayor’s Christmas Tree Lighting. The organization was established in 2010 and 
consolidated with the Tonganoxie Chamber of Commerce in 2017. Members of the organization gather in 
frequent meetings, participate in various sub-committees, and connect with the community using a social 
media presence and the organization’s website.   
 
BUDGET IMPACT: 
None. The required funding is budgeted in the City’s General Fund in 2019.  
 
ACTION NEEDED: 
Make a motion to authorize a 2019 contribution to the Tonganoxie Business Association, in an amount not to 
exceed $5,000.   
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Letter requesting funding support in 2019 from the Tonganoxie Business Association 
 
 
cc:  George Brajkovic, City Manager 

File   



 

 

Tonganoxie Business Association 
PO Box 466 
Tonganoxie KS 66086 
January 17, 2019 
Subject: Budget Request 
 
Dear City Council, 

Tonganoxie Business Association is requesting $5000.00 for 2019.  Tonganoxie Business Association is a thriving 
business group whose members share a passion for our local businesses, entrepreneurs, and community.  

Our association continues to bring valuable assistance and insight to business owners while they grow and prosper 
in Tonganoxie.  Tonganoxie Business Association has increased members from less than 30 members in 2016-2017 
to over 75 members in 2018.   

Tonganoxie Business Association is responsible for the St Patrick’s Day Parade, Downtown Beautification, 
Businessmen’s Annual Appreciation Dinner, Sunflower Stroll, Spooktacular and contribution to Mayors Christmas 
Tree.  We have a website featuring Tonganoxie businesses, city amenities and opportunities that drew over 14,000 
page views in 2018.  Our managed Faceook page attracts attention for many Tonganoxie functions and events.  We 
have weekly meetings where members here from speakers, educators and business professionals.  

In October 2018 Tonganoxie Business Association facilitated 7 business owners along with myself to Destination 
Business Bootcamp to help transform businesses and cities into consumer destinations.  We have advertised 
Tonganoxie with full page ads in The Kansas By Ways Magazine, Kansas Tourism and Kansas Travel Guide.   

We are seeking a $5000.00 investment in Tonganoxie Business Association to supplement the continued growth 
and development of our organization that benefits our city and the community. 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 
Monica Gee 
President, Tonganoxie Business Association  



City of Tonganoxie www.tonganoxie.org (913) 845-2620 
  

 
Office of the City Manager 

AGENDA STATEMENT 
 
DATE:  January 22, 2019 
TO:  Honorable Mayor Jason K. Ward and Members of the City Council 
FROM:   Melanie Tweedy, Administrative Assistant 

SUBJECT:  Ordinance No. 1462: Special use permit for an electronic sign at Casey’s located at 500 West 
Street. 

 
DISCUSSION: 
A public hearing was held at the Planning Commission meeting on Thursday, January 3rd, 2018 for a special 
use permit application submitted by Casey’s General Store for an electronic sign located at 500 West Street. 
The Planning Commission originally considered the Special Use Permit at the December 6th, 2018 meeting, 
but due to an error in the original neighbor notifications, the public hearing was re-noticed and completed at the 
January 3rd, 2019 Planning Commission Meeting. The property is zoned General Business District, which 
permits electronic signs with a special use permit.   
 
After holding a public hearing and discussion, which can be viewed in the attached draft minutes, the Planning 
Commission recommended approval of the request for a special use permit subject to the conditions 
recommended by staff and additional conditions included in Ordinance No. 1462.     
 
ACTION NEEDED: 
Make a motion to approve Ordinance 1462 and accept the Planning Commission’s recommendation for 
approval of a special use permit for property located at 500 West Street, allowing an electronic sign. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Ordinance No. 1462 
Planning Staff Report - Case#: 2018-012SUP 
1/3/19 Draft Planning Commission Minutes 
12/12/18 Revised Sign Rendering 
SUP Application  
 
 
cc:  George Brajkovic, City Manager 

Shannon Marcano, City Attorney 
Patricia C. Hagg, City Clerk 
File    



Page 1 of 3 
 

 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 1462 
 
AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT TO ALLOW AN 
ELECTRONIC SIGN AT 500 WEST STREET, TONGANOXIE, LEAVENWORTH 
COUNTY, KANSAS 
 
WHEREAS, under the ZONING ORDINANCE AND SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS OF 
THE CITY OF TONGANOXIE, KANSAS, 2003, (the “Zoning Ordinance”) the Governing 
Body of the City of Tonganoxie, Kansas, is given the power to amend, supplement or change 
existing zoning regulations or grant special use permits within the City; and 
 
WHEREAS, an application for a Special Use Permit to an electronic sign at 500 West Street was 
received by the City and forwarded to the Tonganoxie Planning Commission in accordance with 
the Zoning Ordinance; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Zoning Ordinance requires a public hearing to be held prior to the granting of a 
special use permit; and  
 
WHEREAS, a public hearing was held by the Tonganoxie Planning Commission on January 3, 
2019, and notice of such public hearing was provided in accordance with Kansas state law and 
the Zoning Ordinance; and  
 
WHEREAS, on January 3, 2019, the Tonganoxie Planning Commission considered the 
application and recommended approval of the special use permit for the electronic sign for an 
unlimited period of time, for the property legally described as:   
 

A replat of Lot 1, John Evans Subdivision No. 1, City of Tonganoxie, Leavenworth County, 
Kansas and a tract of land in the Southeast Quarter of Section 8, Township 11 South, Range 21 
East of the 6th P.M., in said Leavenworth County, Kansas, described as follows: Commencing at 
the Northeast corner of said Southeast Quarter; thence Southerly along the East line of said 
Quarter on an assumed bearing of S00°02’05W, 208.71 feet; thence N89°53’11”W, parallel with 
the North line of said Southeast Quarter, 50.00 feet for the Point of Beginning, said point being 
on the Westerly right of way line of U.S. Highway 24 as described in Condemnation Case No. 
34555, thence S00°00’51”W along said right of way line, 478.71 feet; thence N89°53’11”W 
parallel with said North line of the Southeast Quarter, 208.71 feet; thence N00°00’51”E, 478.71 
feet; thence S89°53’11”E, parallel with said North line, 208.71 feet to the Point of Beginning. 
Containing 2.29 acres or less. More commonly known as 500 West Street. 
 

with the following conditions: 
 

a. The sign design be interpreted as a pylon sign, despite the base being a single support 
that is less than the outermost portions of the sign, and that the Planning Commission 
finds that it is otherwise a compatible material to the primary building and canopy. 

b. The electronic pricing portion of the sign shall be subject to all operational and 
performance criteria of Section 25-017.E of the sign ordinance, applicable to 
electronic message centers. 

 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission’s recommendation was presented to the Governing Body 
at its regularly scheduled meeting on January 22, 2019, for consideration.   



Page 2 of 3 
 

 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY 
OF TONGANOXIE, KANSAS: 
 
SECTION 1.     That the unlimited special use permit is hereby granted for storage units for the 
property legally described as: 
 

A replat of Lot 1, John Evans Subdivision No. 1, City of Tonganoxie, Leavenworth County, 
Kansas and a tract of land in the Southeast Quarter of Section 8, Township 11 South, Range 21 
East of the 6th P.M., in said Leavenworth County, Kansas, described as follows: Commencing at 
the Northeast corner of said Southeast Quarter; thence Southerly along the East line of said 
Quarter on an assumed bearing of S00°02’05W, 208.71 feet; thence N89°53’11”W, parallel with 
the North line of said Southeast Quarter, 50.00 feet for the Point of Beginning, said point being 
on the Westerly right of way line of U.S. Highway 24 as described in Condemnation Case No. 
34555, thence S00°00’51”W along said right of way line, 478.71 feet; thence N89°53’11”W 
parallel with said North line of the Southeast Quarter, 208.71 feet; thence N00°00’51”E, 478.71 
feet; thence S89°53’11”E, parallel with said North line, 208.71 feet to the Point of Beginning. 
Containing 2.29 acres or less. More commonly known as 500 West Street. 
 

 
with the following conditions: 
 

a. The sign design be interpreted as a pylon sign, despite the base being a single support 
that is less than the outermost portions of the sign, and that the Planning Commission 
finds that it is otherwise a compatible material to the primary building and canopy. 

b. The electronic pricing portion of the sign shall be subject to all operational and 
performance criteria of Section 25-017.E of the sign ordinance, applicable to 
electronic message centers. 

 
 
SECTION 2.     That this order shall take effect and be enforced from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication in the Tonganoxie Mirror, the official newspaper of the City of 
Tonganoxie. 
 

  



Page 3 of 3 
 

 
 
 
 
PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL THIS 22nd DAY OF JANUARY, 2019.  
 
APPROVED BY THE MAYOR PRO TEM THIS 22nd DAY OF JANUARY, 2019. 
       
 
 
(Seal)             
             
              
                                                                        __________________________________ 

A.W. Himpel, Mayor Pro Tem 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
___________________________________                                
Patricia C. Hagg, City Clerk 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Shannon M. Marcano, City Attorney 



1 
 

 
 

City of Tonganoxie, Kansas 
 

PLANNING STAFF REPORT 
 
Case:  2018-012SUP, Special Use Permit for Pylon Sign 
 
Date of Report: November 30th, 2018 
 
Subject Property Address: Highway 24/40 (West Side) between 5th Street & 6th Street 
 
Legal Description:  CASEY’S SUBDIVISON; LOT 1, JOHN EVANS SUBDIVISION NO. 1, CITY OF TONGANOXIE, LEAVENWORTH 
COUNTY, KANSAS AND A TRACT OF LAND IN THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 8, TOWNSHIP 11 SOUTH, RANGE 21 EAST 
OF THE 6TH P.M., IN SAID LEAVENWORTH COUNTY, KANSAS. 
 
Application:  

Zoning District:  GBD (General Business District) 
Type of Approval Desired:  Approval of pylon sign. 
Date of Application: September 7, 2018 
Date of Meeting: December 6th, 2018 

 
Surrounding Property Zoning and Use: 

West:  RR-2.5 (unincorporated Leavenworth County); rural homes on large lots and 
undeveloped parcels (2 to 40 acres) 
North: LBD (Limited Business District); Auto-shop and single-family house 
East:  LBD (Limited Business District); Undeveloped parcels 
South:  RR-2.5 (unincorporated Leavenworth County); Large lot single family homes fronting on 
Hatchell Road (1.1 to 1.16 acres) 

 
Recommendation: Approval subject to conditions 
 
 
I. PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

A. Subject Property.  The property is planned to be a new Casey’s General Store on the west side of 
Highway 24/40 between the current alignment of 5th and 6th street. The property was recently 
annexed and rezoned by the city to facilitate the proposed development project for which the 
preliminary and final plats and site plan were approved with conditions in March. The existing 
site is currently undeveloped land. 
 

B. Proposal.  The Casey’s General Store is proposing a sign for their business as follows: 
• A pylon structure that is approximately 20’ high x 10’-2” wide x 2.5’ deep containing the 

following: 
o A 11’ base consisting of a material that is consistent with some of the primary 

building materials and canopy. 



2 
 

o A 2’-6” x 10’-2” (25.42 sq. ft) internally-luminated tri-color LED price sign. 
o A 5’-9 5/16” x 7’-4” (35.59 sq. ft) aluminum internally-luminated house logo 

sign  
 
C. Surrounding Area.  The surrounding property is zoned / used as follows: 

• South and west – RR 2.5 by the County of Leavenworth, Kansas to accommodate 
low-density residential development. Land is currently agricultural and 
undeveloped. 

• North and east – Limited Business, enabling neighborhood-oriented retail shopping 
and services.  Property further east is designated for Limited Business and RMF-2 
(Multifamily 2), accommodating two to sixteen dwelling units per site.  

 
II. Analysis 

The City of Tonganoxie Sign Ordinance was adopted in 2015.  Two factors of the new sign 
ordinance require Planning Commission review for this application: 
1. The ordinance requires pylon signs to be approved by a special use permit.  (25-017.I)   
2. The digital display of gas prices meets the definition of an electronic message board, 

which must be approved by a “special permit.” (25-017.E) 
 
The criteria for granting approval for all special use permits are the following: 

• General Considerations: (Section 22-010.a) 
o The use will not seriously injure the appropriate use or safety of neighboring 

property; 
o The use conforms to the general intent and purpose of this ordinance; 
o The use complies with the height and area regulations of district. 

• Additional Considerations: (Section 22-010.b) 
o Location and size of use in relation to site and adjacent sites and uses; 
o Accessibility of municipal services; adequacy of ingress and egress; and parking 
o Availability and capacity of utilities; 
o Location, nature and height of structures; buffering or screening; 
o Adequacy of yards and open space; signs; 
o General compatibility with adjacent properties and neighborhood. 

 
The proposed pylon sign meets the standards in 25-017.I.  The proposed location for the sign 
meets all applicable setbacks.  At 20’ high, it will be consistent with the allowed height of 20’ for 
pylon signs.  The overall proposed size for the sign is approximately 61.01 square feet, less than 
the allowed size limit for pylon signs (85 sq. ft) (Table 5 – Signs in Commercial Districts – Single 
Tenant). 
 
The ordinance states that “pylon signs” be “supported by two structural supports located at the 
outermost extremities of the sign face.”  (25-017.I.5)  It is unclear what this requirement would 
specifically achieve, and in this case, it would serve to increase the prominence of the overall 
sign structure without improving communication.  The base of the sign meets the intent of the 
ordinance by eliminating a “pole” appearance in enclosing the supports in a structure.  It uses 
primary and accent materials and colors used proposed for the primary building and gas canopy.  
 
In addition, the electronic message portion of the sign meets the criteria in Section 25-017.E.   
Electronic message signs is that they are limited to one per lot no more than “50% of the 
permitted sign area” (20-017.E.1.b).  This would effectively limit electronic message signs to 42.5 



3 
 

square feet, when associated with the largest allowed pylon sign.  This electronic message 
center is proposed to be 25.42 square feet, which is well beneath the allowable size.  

 
Section 25-017.E also includes performance and operational standards that the sign ordinance 
requires of all electronic message signs.  These involve automatic dimming controls, and 
minimum display standards to protect adjacent property and the safety of traffic on the 
roadway. 

 
III. Recommendation 

Staff recommends that the sign permit / special use permit be approved subject to the 
following: 
a. The sign design be interpreted as a pylon sign, despite the base being a single support that is 

less than the outermost portions of the sign, and that the Planning Commission finds that it 
is otherwise a compatible material to the primary building and canopy. 

b. The applicant the electronic pricing portion of the sign shall be subject to all operational and 
performance criteria of Section 25-017.E of the sign ordinance, applicable to electronic 
message centers. 

 
 
Respectfully Submitted 
 
_________________________________ 
Abby Newsham Kinney 
Contract City Planner 



 

Minutes Excerpt - Page 1 of 2 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES 
January 3, 2019 

7:00 p.m. Regular Meeting 

CALL TO ORDER 

• Chairman Morgan opened the meeting at 7:00 p.m. 
• Roll Call: Planning Commissioners present were John Morgan, Monica Gee, Jacob Dale, Patti Gabel, Zach 

Stoltenberg, Crystal Henson, and Kevin Harris. No members were absent.  City Manager George Brajkovic, 
Assistant City Manager Dan Porter, City Administrative Assistant Melanie Tweedy, City Planner Chris Brewster 
with Gould Evans and City Attorney Shannon Marcano were also in attendance.   

1. APPROVAL OF PC MINUTES – DECEMBER 6, 2018  

o Ms. Gee made a motion to approve the minutes from the December 6, 2018 Planning Commission meeting.  
o Mr. Stoltenberg seconded.  
o Vote of 6 ayes, 1 abstaining (Morgan), motion carried. 

2. OPEN AGENDA 

• Ray Stockman, 201 W Washington, addressed the Planning Commission and noted his role as the Chairman of 
the Board of the Tonganoxie Historical Society. He noted several concerns with the sign placement, size, and 
character.  

• Scott Hueschen, Infinity Sign- 4900 Listen Ave, Kansas City, MO, commented on the efforts of Casey’s General 
Store to adhere to the City’s requirements and regulations in the sign design as presented to the Planning 
Commission.  

• Chairman Morgan closed the open agenda portion of the agenda.  

3. NEW BUSINESS 

a) PUBLIC HEARING – SPECIAL USE PERMIT –SIGN PERMIT – 500 WEST STREET– SUBMITTED BY CASEY’S  

• Mr. Brewster reviewed the most recent submission to the City of a revised sign document and that the item was 
being reconsidered due to an error noted in the public notice distributed for the December 6, 2018 Planning 
Commission meeting. He reviewed that the Planning Commission is reviewing this sign as part of a special use 
permit, which is required because the sign is a pylon sign. He noted that the most recent submission has been 
changed in material from the red matching the metal material on the building to a masonry appearance 
matching other elements on the building exterior.  

CHAIRMAN MORGAN OPENED THE PUBLIC HEARING.  

• No members of the public chose to speak in favor of the special use permit request.  
• No members of the public chose to speak in opposition of the special use permit request. 

CHAIRMAN MORGAN CLOSED THE PUBLIC HEARING.  



 

Minutes Excerpt - Page 2 of 2 

 

• Mr. Dale asked what the material would look or feel like. 
• Mr. Hueschen, applicant, commented that the material is a close imitation of brick.  
• Mr. Stoltenberg commented that the current sign meets the sign ordinance requirements and makes 

concessions to the requests presented by the Planning Commission at the last meeting, but he also understands 
the concerns expressed with the fit of the canopy and building with the surrounding part of the community.  

• Chairman Morgan noted that he feels the request meets the general considerations but doesn’t seem to meet 
the additional considerations listed in the staff report based on the residential character of the surrounding 
area.  

• Ms. Gabel commented that she feels it is unnecessarily tall compared to shorter signs.  
• Mr. Stoltenberg added that this sign will not be much taller than the church sign located near the Casey’s 

location. He also stated that with the landscaping, he feels that the sign is within reason.   
o Mr. Stoltenberg made a motion to make a recommendation to the City Council to approve the special use 

permit subject to staff recommendations. 
o Ms. Gee seconded the motion.  
o Roll Call Vote – 4 ayes, 3 no (Morgan, Henson, Gabel), motion carried.  
o        The City Council will plan to consider this item on January 22nd, 2019 at 7:00pm, in the City Council 

Chambers at 321 S. Delaware St., Tonganoxie KS. 
• Mr. Hueschen, applicant, commented that future edits to the sign ordinance might consider this type of sign to 

be a monument sign.  
• Mr. Stockman added that lumens and light output is another consideration to consider. 
• Mr. Hueschen noted that the lights on this sign are adjustable and that Casey’s will be willing to work with the 

city to find a comfortable lumen output.  
 
 
… 



DI
ES

EL
U

N
L

 
8
8

UN
L

E
-
8

5
ET

HA
NO

L
WI

TH

20'-0"

11'-0

11

16"2'-6"8"5'-9

5

16"

7
'
-
4

"

8
'
-
1

0
"

1
0

'
-
2

"

DI
ES

EL
U

N
L

 
8
8

UN
L

E
-
8

5
ET

HA
NO

L
WI

TH

®

T
O

N
G

A
N

O
X

I
E

,
 
K

S

50
0 W

ES
T 

ST
RE

ET
DR

AW
N

 B
Y:

J.
CL

AR
K

DA
TE

:
12

-1
0-

18

P
R

I
C

E
R

 
N

O
T

E
S

:

·
1
0
"
 
R

E
D

 
A

N
D

 
G

R
E

E
N

 
L
E

D

·
S

T
A

T
I
C

 
L
A

B
E

L
S

,
 
N

O
N

-
I
N

T
E

R
C

H
A

N
G

E
A

B
L
E

·
C

A
B

I
N

E
T

 
I
S

 
B

L
A

C
K

 
I
N

 
C

O
L
O

R

·
3
0
0
'
 
W

I
R

E
L
E

S
S

 
K

E
Y

P
A

D
 
R

A
N

G
E



SPECIAL USE PERMIT APPLICATION
Filing Fee Required

in Accordance with Section 22-013, of the City of Tonganoxie's Zoning Ordinances, an application
is hereby made for a Special Use Permit:

Date application filed t¿/*/t E Permit No.

Applicant:

Address:

r7 I

L SE Conveniønee B[vd Ankeng

Telephone # (Home) 51-5-Q63-383L (Jacob Clark) (Work)

(Cell) PtTyts O ùây3^ra\E-mail Address)

Properfy Owner(s): CaseY's Retaíl Covnpang (contract purchas¿r, Phone

Address: L SE Convenience Blvd City Ankeng State lA soo2t

Name of business proposed Caseg's ûeneral Store

Address of business ãda aJe'.s-f &¡æj
Description of business Conænr?n¿
Hours of operation Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat Sun

# of employee's Family members? ¿r'/¡+ Live on site? ltê
If business is to be operated by someone other than the applicant or owner, give name and address

Briefly describe the present use and character of the property: Sqrlêa.Azû¡€ ,rçud

State lA 50027-

Briefly describe the requested/proposed use of the property &zcrUz &v¿
&a^s Sfa¿;æ-

Briefly describe what effect the requested use will have on the property and the surrounding area:

v

Signature

I

----

Property Owner SignatLrre if clifferent from applicant

SignatLrre



AFFIDAVIT

CITY OF ANKENY
COTINTY OF POLK
STATE OF IOWA

I, Richardt. T. Schappert, Vice President of Casey's Retail Company, being duly sworïl, depose
and say that Casey's Retail Company is the owner of said property involved in this petition and
that the foregoing signatures, statements, and answers herein contained in the information
herewith submitted are in all respects hue and corect to the best of my knowledge and belief.

Signed rhis l'l of 2018

T. lce

Subscribed and sworn to before me on this

in and County of Polk, Iowa

My Commission Expires sl>-l tq

day of

L
Commlsslon t'JL'!-¡,ì

MyCornmissl-:,'
lÂ¡rch 20, ¿

' 
I1'"

2018.

N



  

 
Office of the City Manager 

AGENDA STATEMENT 
 
DATE:  January 22, 2019 
TO:  Honorable Mayor Jason K. Ward and Members of the City Council 
FROM:   Melanie Tweedy, Administrative Assistant 

SUBJECT:  Reconsideration of Ordinance 1445: Amending the Light Industrial District Zoning Ordinance to 
allow Daycare: Child Care Center (or) Preschool 

 
DISCUSSION: 
The City’s Zoning Regulations specify “Daycare: Child Care Center (or) Preschool” as a permitted use and 
describes the use as care for 13 or more children for more than 3 hours. (Lesser intense categories of 
this use include home-based and licensed or group daycare, intended for care of children in the home.) Child 
Care Centers are allowed by Special Use permit in residential districts and in the Historic Business 
District and permitted by right in the Limited Business, General Business, Business Park, and PUD 
Commercial Districts. The use is not currently allowed in the Industrial Districts (I-LT, I-MD, and I-H). 
 
The consideration of whether Child Care Centers should be located in the I-LT district in the City was initially 
brought to the Planning Commission as a discussion item on June 2, 2018 and the Planning Commission 
directed staff to proceed with a zoning text amendment ordinance to add Child Care Centers to the allowed 
uses in I-LT. On July 5, 2018 the Planning Commission meeting recommended approval to the City Council via 
a 5-0 vote following a public hearing. The item was then continued from the August 6, 2018 City Council 
meeting and continued again from the November 19, 2018 City Council meeting in order to complete further 
staff research. 
 
On December 3, 2018 the City Council considered Ordinance 1445, which would implement changes to the 
permitted uses within the Light Industrial Zoning District previously recommended for approval by the Planning 
Commission several months earlier. These changes would amend the Zoning Ordinance to allow Daycare 
(child care centers or preschools) as a permitted use within the Light Industrial Zoning District. As seen in the 
attached excerpt of the approved meeting minutes, the City Council took the action of directing the Planning 
Commission to reconsider this item and consider adding a requirement for a Special Use Permit.  
 
At the January 3, 2019 Planning Commission meeting the Commissioners reconsidered the item and held a 
discussion reflected in the draft meeting minutes, which are provided as an attachment. Following discussion 
and the presentation of the staff report, the Planning Commission approved a motion to make a 
recommendation to the City Council to approve the proposed language additions and use groups table edits, 
without an adjustment to require a special use permit. The motion was passed by a vote of 6-1 (Henson).  
 
ACTION NEEDED: 
A motion to approve would be: Make a motion to approve Ordinance 1445, amending “Zoning Regulations, 
Chapter 16, Item 16-012.A”- Light Industrial District zoning to read “Uses shall focus upon administrative 
facilities, research institutions, light manufacturing activities, warehousing and wholesaling of goods, 
tradesman’s workshops, and other service uses that support the employment and light manufacturing business 
in this district.” and update the Use Groups Table to identify Daycare: Child Care Center (or) Preschool as an 
allowable use by placing an “X” in the table under I-LT..  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Excerpt from Planning Commission Draft minutes – January 3, 2019 
Planning Staff Report 
Draft Ordinance 1445 
 
 



 

 

 

… 

 

4. OLD BUSINESS 

a) RECONSIDERATION OF TEXT AMENDMENTS TO ZONING REGULATIONS SECTION 16 & APPENDIX A-USE 
GROUPS BY CATEGORY TO ALLOW FOR A USE DESCRIBED AS “EARLY EDUCATION CENTER” – WITH 
RECOMMENDATIONS FROM CITY COUNCIL  

• Mr. Brewster provided some background on the history of the consideration of this item and how adding the 
use to the light industrial district was the original recommendation from staff which was recommended for 
approval by the Planning Commission. He noted that the City Council most recently continued the item to the 
Planning Commission asking for consideration of adding a special use permit requirement to the  

• Mr. Morgan commented that it made to sense to him to add the special use permit based on consideration of 
safety and proximity of various uses. 

• Mr. Stoltenberg stated that he didn’t see the need for a special use permit based on licensing and safety 
requirements of other agencies.  

• Ms. Marcano presented 3 different available procedural options. First, recommending approval again to the City 
Council as previously recommended for approval. Second, the Planning Commission could change the 
recommendation to recommend denial, where the City Council could review again and make a determination. 
Finally, the Planning Commission could agree with the recommendation to include the special use permit 
requirement and request that staff resubmit a new application to the Planning Commission with this  

• Ms. Gee noted that a special use permit would add overly burdensome steps to the process of opening such a 
business. 
o Ms. Gee made a motion to make a recommendation to the City Council to approve the proposed language 

additions and use groups table edits, without an adjustment to require a special use permit. 
o Mr. Harris seconded the motion.  
o Roll Call Vote – 6 ayes, 1 nay (Henson), motion carried.  

 
… 
 



1 
 

 
 

City of Tonganoxie, Kansas 
 

PLANNING STAFF REPORT 
 
Case#: 2018-008A 
 
Date of Report: September 14, 2018 
 
Applicant Name: George Brajkovic  
 
Property Owner Name: NA 
 
Subject Property Address: NA 
 
Application:  

Zoning District:  I-LT – Light Industrial District 
Type of Approval Desired:  Amendment to the ILT district to allow Day Care 
Date of Application: June 8, 2018  
Date of Meeting: July 5, 2018 

 
Surrounding Property – Zoning and Use:  

Not applicable – the amendment would pertain to all I-LT zoned property within the community. 
 

Staff Recommendation:   
Recommend approval of the proposed language additions and Use Groups table edits. 

 
 
SUMMARY: 
The Planning Commission considered an amendment to the Zoning District Use Table at its July meeting.  
The amendment would allow Day Care Centers as a principle us in the I-LT Light Industrial District.  After 
a staff presentation and discussion, the Commission recommended approval of a proposed amendment 
to update.  The City Council discussed this recommendation, had concerns over this use and asked for 
more information from planning staff. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
The City recently received a request for an existing Child Care Center to relocate to a building located in 
the I-LT district.  Staff determined that it was likely not appropriate to rezone that particular property for 
this one request, but rather reconsidered whether Child Care Centers should be located in the I-LT 
district throughout the City.  This was brought to the Planning Commission as a discussion item in June 
2018, and the Planning Commission directed staff to proceed with a zoning text amendment to add 
Child Care Centers to the allowed uses in I-LT. 



2 
 

Based on the structure of the Tonganoxie Zoning Ordinance uses and districts, and based on an analysis 
of all of the existing contexts around the I-LT zoning districts, staff recommended approval of the 
amendment.  This was specifically based on the following: 

• The City has three tiers of industrial districts, and the I-LT is the least intensive in both intent, 
allowed uses, and development standards. 

• The I-LT district allows many other commercial and institutional uses that would have the same 
level of public interaction and access as a Day Care Center. 

• A day care center could be a complimentary use to some of the employment-oriented uses 
allowed in the I-LT district. 

• Any potential impacts from other uses that could be allowed in the I-LT district are required by 
the district standards to not be evident or have any impacts beyond the property boundaries. 

• The specific context of the original inquiry would be appropriate for the proposed use. 
• Other instances of I-LT zoning do not present any conditions, adjacencies or other situations that 

present planning or land use concerns any different than other allowed uses. 
• The health and safety issues associated with day care uses are addressed through the City’s 

building code and permitting process, and requirements for licensing through the Kansas 
Department of Health and Environment (KDHE). 

 
In surveying other City’s zoning ordinances and comparable zoning districts resulted in the following: 

• Gardner, KS – allowed use 
• North Kansas City, MO – allowed only as an accessory use to a business. 
• Basehor, KS – allowed only through planned district 
• Leavenworth, KS – not allowed 
• Lansing, KS – not allowed 
• Kansas City Kansas – allowed use 
• Parkville, MO – allowed use 
• Lawrence, KS – allowed use 
• Shawnee, KS – allowed as planned district or through special use permit 
• Bonner Springs, KS – not allowed 

 
An inquiry to KDHE regarding any concerns on licensing a facility in this zoning districts would be 
property specific in looking at potential hazards based on the state fire marshals review.  Typical 
concerns that may arise include very close proximity to hazardous and combustible materials, and other 
site-specific concerns with respect to outside play areas that are typically checked with specific licenses.   
 
More detailed information on the extent of these reviews can be found in the KDHE forms:  
http://www.kdheks.gov/bcclr/application_packets_and_forms/child_care/Instructions_for_CCL_301.pdf  
 
 

 
_____________________________ 
Chris Brewster 
Contract City Planner 

http://www.kdheks.gov/bcclr/application_packets_and_forms/child_care/Instructions_for_CCL_301.pdf


1 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 1445 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE TONGANOXIE ZONING CODE TO ALLOW 
DAYCARE: CHILD CARE CENTER (OR) PRESCHOOL IN LIGHT INDUSTRIAL 
DISTRICT      

WHEREAS, City staff initiated an application to amend the Tonganoxie Zoning Code to allow 
daycare: child care center (or) preschool in light industrial district (“I-LT”); and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held by the Tonganoxie Planning Commission on July 5, 
2018, and notice of such public hearing was provided in accordance with Kansas state law and 
the Tonganoxie Zoning Ordinance; and   

WHEREAS, on July 5, 2018 the Tonganoxie Planning Commission considered the application 
and recommended approval of the amendment to the allowed uses in the I-LT district to add 
daycare: child care center (or) preschool; and  

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission’s recommendation was presented to the Governing Body 
at its regularly scheduled meeting on August 6, 2018, for consideration and was continued with a 
request for additional information from staff; and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission’s recommendation & additional research from staff was 
presented to the Governing Body at its regularly scheduled meeting on November 19, 2018, for 
consideration; and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission’s recommendation & additional research from staff was 
presented to the Governing Body at its regularly scheduled meeting on December 3, 2018, for 
consideration; and 

WHEREAS, the Governing Body directed the Planning Commission to reconsider the 
recommendation & consider adding the requirement for a special use permit for the use in the 
light industrial zoning district at its regularly scheduled meeting on December 3, 2018, for 
consideration; and 

WHEREAS, the Governing Body’s recommendation was presented to the Planning Commission 
at its regularly scheduled meeting on January 3, 2019, for consideration; and  

WHEREAS, on January 3, 2019 the Planning Commission considered the recommendation and 
recommended approval of the amendment to the allowed uses in the I-LT district to add daycare: 
child care center (or) preschool without the requirement for a special use permit; and  

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission’s recommendation was presented to the Governing Body 
at its regularly scheduled meeting on January 22, 2019, for consideration;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY 
OF TONGANOXIE, KANSAS: 



2 
 

Section 1:  That Section 16 of the Tonganoxie Zoning Code, entitled “I-LT” LIGHT 
INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT be amended with the addition of language to Section 16-012 (A) as 
follows: 

16-012 (A) Uses shall focus upon administrative facilities, research institutions, light 
manufacturing activities, warehousing and wholesaling of goods, tradesman’s workshops, and 
other service uses that support the employment and light manufacturing business in this district. 

Section 2:  That Appendix A to the Tonganoxie Zoning Code, entitled Use Groups By Category, 
be amended to reflect daycare: child care center (or) preschool in light industrial district as an 
allowable use in the I-LT district as follows: 

 

 

   



3 
 

Section 3:  That this ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its publication in 
the official newspaper of the City of Tonganoxie, Kansas as provided by law.  

 
PASSED by the City Council this 22nd day of January, 2019. 
   
APPROVED by the Mayor Pro Tem this 22nd day of January, 2019.   
 
 
SEAL 
       ______________________________ 
                  A.W. Himpel, Mayor Pro Tem 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
__________________________________ 
Patricia C. Hagg, City Clerk 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_________________________________ 
Shannon M. Marcano, City Attorney  
 



  

 
Office of the City Manager 

AGENDA STATEMENT 
 
DATE:  January 22, 2019 
TO:  Honorable Mayor Jason K. Ward and Members of the City Council 
FROM:   Dan Porter, Assistant City Manager 

SUBJECT:  Presentation of the 2019 Budget Book 

DISCUSSION: 
The City of Tonganoxie 2019 Adopted Budget book is now available online and hard copies are also available 
for viewing at City Hall.  
 
Links:  
https://www.tonganoxie.org/departments/administration/finance/Budgets 
https://online.flippingbook.com/view/72518/ 
 
The Tonganoxie City Council adopted the 2019 budget on August 6, 2018, following an extensive budget 
development process that included multiple public input opportunities and numerous opportunities for 
consideration by the City Council at budget workshops. The budget development process is visualized in the 
graphic below.  

 
 
ACTION NEEDED: 
None requested. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
None. 
 
CC:  Shannon Marcano, City Attorney 

George Brajkovic, City Manager 
Patricia C. Hagg, City Clerk 
John Zimbelman, Fire Chief 
Greg Lawson, Police Chief 
Kent Heskett, Public Works Director 
Darren Shupe, Water Park Director  

CMIP Workshop 
(May 21) 

Presentation of 
Proposed Budget 

(June 4) 

County Clerk provides 
estimated valuation 

(June 15) 

Director Presentation 
of Proposed Budget 

Enhancements 
(June 18) 

Council Budget Work 
Session (July 2)  

Council Budget Work 
Session (July 16)   

Publication of 
proposed budget and 

notice of public 
hearing by July 25 

Council Budget Work 
Session (August 6)   

Budget Adoption by 
City Council 
(August 6) 

Approved Budget 
Delivered to County 
Clerk by August 25 

https://www.tonganoxie.org/departments/administration/finance/Budgets
https://online.flippingbook.com/view/72518/


La
nd

 A
cq
ui
si
tio

n 
Co

st
s 

Bu
dg
et

Ac
tu
al
 C
os
ts
 In

cu
rr
ed

Ba
la
nc
e 
Re

m
ai
ni
ng

La
nd

 P
ur
ch
as
e 
fr
om

 T
on

gi
e 
5 
LL
C

19
5,
14

9.
00

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   

19
2,
92

1.
94

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   

2,
22

7.
06

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
 

G
eo

te
ch

7,
50

0.
00

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

3,
25

0.
00

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   

4,
25

0.
00

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

Sp
ec
ia
l I
ns
pe

ct
io
ns

35
,0
00

.0
0

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

‐
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

35
,0
00

.0
0

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

To
po

gr
ap
hi
ca
l S
ur
ve
y

3,
50

0.
00

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
 

‐
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

3,
50

0.
00

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
 

Su
bt
ot
al
 L
an

d 
Ac

qu
is
iti
on

 L
ia
bi
lit
ie
s

24
1,
14

9
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

19
6,
17

2
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

44
,9
77

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
 

Pr
e‐
Co

ns
tr
uc
tio

n 
&
 D
es
ig
n 
Li
ab

ili
tie

s ‐
 JE

 D
un

n
Bu

dg
et

Ac
tu
al
 C
os
ts
 In

cu
rr
ed

Ba
la
nc
e 
Re

m
ai
ni
ng

Ar
ch
ite

ct
ur
al
 F
ee

28
5,
00

0.
00

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
 

20
,7
72

.0
0

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
 

26
4,
22

8.
00

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
 

St
ru
ct
ur
al

26
,2
80

.0
0

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

‐
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

26
,2
80

.0
0

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

Ci
vi
l

29
,1
60

.0
0

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

‐
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

29
,1
60

.0
0

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

Li
br
ar
y 
Pr
oj
ec
t B

ud
ge
t R

ep
or
t ‐
 A
s o

f 2
01
9‐
01

‐1
8

In
te
rio

r/
Fu
rn
ish

in
g

24
,5
10

.0
0

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   

‐
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
 

24
,5
10

.0
0

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   

Tr
av
el
 R
ei
m
bu

rs
em

en
t J
E 
Du

nn
21

,0
50

.0
0

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

67
9.
00

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
 

20
,3
71

.0
0

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

Su
bt
ot
al
 P
re
‐C
on

st
ru
ct
io
n 
&
 D
es
ig
n 
Li
ab

ili
tie

s ‐
 JE

 D
un

n
38

6,
00

0
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

21
,4
51

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
 

36
4,
54

9
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

D
es
ig
n 
Bu

ild
 C
on

st
ru
ct
io
n 
Li
ab

ili
tie

s ‐
 JE

 D
un

n
Bu

dg
et

Ac
tu
al
 C
os
ts
 In

cu
rr
ed

Ba
la
nc
e 
Re

m
ai
ni
ng

Co
ns
tr
uc
t a

nd
 E
qu

ip
t L
ib
ra
ry
 F
ac
ili
ty
 (D

es
ig
n‐
Bu

ild
 C
on

tr
ac
t)

3,
12

2,
85

1.
00

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

‐
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

3,
12

2,
85

1.
00

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

Su
bt
ot
al
 D
es
ig
n 
Bu

ild
 C
on

st
ru
ct
io
n 
Li
ab

ili
tie

s ‐
 JE

 D
un

n
3,
12

2,
85

1
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

‐
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

3,
12

2,
85

1
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

Bu
dg
et

Ac
tu
al
 C
os
ts
 In

cu
rr
ed

Ba
la
nc
e 
Re

m
ai
ni
ng

To
ta
l P
ro
je
ct
 L
ia
bi
lit
ie
s 
(n
ot
 in
cl
ud

in
g 
is
su
an

ce
 c
os
ts
)

3,
75

0,
00

0
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

21
7,
62

3
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   

3,
53

2,
37

7
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  


	Council Members
	I. Pledge of Allegiance
	II. Approval of Minutes – Regular meeting dated January 7, 2019
	III. Consent Agenda
	IV. Open Agenda
	V. Old Business
	VI. New Business
	VII. Information & Communications (No Action Required)
	VIII. Adjourn
	06d_Attach_01-03-2018_Planning Commission Meeting Draft Minutes - excerpt for City Council.pdf
	4. Old Business
	a) Reconsideration of Text Amendments to Zoning Regulations Section 16 & Appendix A-Use Groups by Category to allow for a use described as “Early Education Center” – with recommendations from City Council


	06c_Attach_12-12-18 2nd Revision -Tonganoxie KS - Pylon Sign.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Tonganoxie KS


	06c_Attach_01-03-2018_Planning Commission Meeting Draft Minutes - excerpt for City Council SUP.pdf
	Call to Order
	1. Approval of PC Minutes – DECEMBER 6, 2018
	2. Open Agenda
	3. New Business
	a) Public Hearing – Special Use Permit –Sign Permit – 500 West Street– Submitted by Casey’s
	Chairman Morgan opened the public hearing.
	Chairman Morgan closed the public hearing.


	06a_Attach_Resolution 01-19-02_Waiver of Fees Request for Microchipping Clinic.pdf
	RESOLUTION NO. 01-19-02

	02_City Council Draft Minutes_2019-01-07.pdf
	I. Pledge of Allegiance
	II. Approval of Minutes – Regular meeting dated December 17, 2018
	III. Consent Agenda
	IV. Open Agenda
	V. Old Business
	VI. New Business
	VII. Information & Communications (No Action Required)
	VIII. Adjourn




